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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning and

          3  welcome to today's Finance Committee Hearing. My

          4  name is David Weprin and I chair the Finance

          5  Committee, and we're going to be hearing a number of

          6  items today.

          7                 Let me introduce my colleagues.

          8  Starting on the left, Council Member Michael Nelson

          9  of Brooklyn, who is the Chair of a Subcommittee of

         10  this Committee. Next to him is Council Member Simcha

         11  Felder from Brooklyn; Council Member Diana Reyna of

         12  Brooklyn and Queens; and Council Member Eva

         13  Moskowitz from Manhattan; Council Member Leroy

         14  Comrie, our Majority Whip from Queens. On my

         15  immediate left is our Majority Leader, Council

         16  Member Joel Rivera from the Bronx; and Council

         17  Member Madeline Provenzano from the Bronx.

         18                 Today we have a preconsidered

         19  resolution which will essentially begin the local

         20  law making process for the establishment of the

         21  Sutphin Boulevard BID in Queens. The resolution sets

         22  October 15 as the date this Committee will take up

         23  the local law to establish the BID.

         24                 At that time, we'll hear all those

         25  who may be affected by the establishment of the BID
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          2  who wish to speak, and then we will adjourn until

          3  the statutory objection period has run before we

          4  actually act on the local law. So that everyone is

          5  aware, SBS has provided us with two replacement

          6  pages for the district plan, which is a document

          7  that would govern the BID if and when it is

          8  established.

          9                 These replacement pages set up a

         10  separate class of property for exclusively

         11  residential properties. While no such properties

         12  currently exist within the district, any such

         13  properties in the future would only be assessed a

         14  nominal sum of $1.00. So, the district plan we'll be

         15  considering will be the ones with that change in it.

         16                 We are also considering a first

         17  hearing on Intro No. 508, a bill that would amend

         18  the City Charter to require the Office of Management

         19  of Budget to provide the Council with access to all

         20  screens of their financial management system

         21  relating to the planning and tracking of capital

         22  projects. Because the Council is responsible for

         23  adopting the capital budget and overseeing its

         24  implementation, it is imperative that we have access

         25  to the type of financial information necessary to
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          2  fulfill those responsibilities. Without this access,

          3  our Finance Staff is forced to rely on their

          4  counterparts at OMB for information and then often

          5  times uses this information to create data that

          6  already exists on the system. This is difficult

          7  under the best of circumstances and at times when

          8  particular projects are adversarial, can become

          9  virtually impossible.

         10                 We will start with Intro No. 508.

         11  Finally, we will consider one Land Use item for a

         12  partial tax exemption for Section 202 Project for

         13  Supportive Housing for the Elderly.

         14                 The project is in Council Member

         15  Reyna's district, who is here today, and gives her

         16  support to the project.

         17                 I think we haven't been joined by

         18  anybody else. Now I'm going to call upon Council

         19  Member Moskowitz, who is the prime sponsor, to make

         20  a statement on Intro Number 508.

         21                 Council Member Moskowitz.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         23  very, very much, Mr. Chair. Thank you for hearing

         24  this bill. Just by way of background for my

         25  colleagues and for the public, when I was elected in
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          2  1999, I looked at my predecessor's projects, what he

          3  or she had funded, in this case he, and I found that

          4  there were $7 million worth of projects going back

          5  to 1993 that not only had not been built, but hadn't

          6  even begun in terms of the process. And I was very

          7  concerned and interested in how we were going to

          8  track the timely completion of these projects. And I

          9  was at a hearing about six or seven months later

         10  where I first heard the term "FMS." And it was very

         11  exciting because this was going to cost millions of

         12  dollars, but it was finally going to allow us to

         13  tract projects.

         14                 My understanding is this system costs

         15  $205 million when all was said and done. It was

         16  first fully used in the Year 2000. And when I asked

         17  the Finance Division to track these projects, I was

         18  shocked to learn that our staff does not have the

         19  same access that OMB. So, this proposed law is the

         20  capital budget access act and it's about

         21  transparency. The Mayor has committed himself to

         22  transparency. We, in terms, of our oversight

         23  responsibility have to have access to the

         24  information to make sure that projects are done on

         25  time and at cost. Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          3  Council Member.

          4                 We've also been joined by another one

          5  of our colleagues, Council Member Lou Fidler from

          6  Brooklyn. Welcome.

          7                 I'm now going to call upon the

          8  Director of the Finance Division, Larian Angelo, to

          9  testify, and she's joined by Josh Wojcik. Take your

         10  time.

         11                 MS. ANGELO: Good morning. This is a

         12  very interesting bill, although it has the

         13  appearance of being a very uninteresting bill.  It

         14  appears to be a very technical, dry, sort of budget

         15  wonky kind of bill, and in some way it is. I could

         16  begin to list the screens in FMS that we would like

         17  to have that we don't have access to  - our PSL, our

         18  PDR, JPTS, JSUB, et cetera, but I won't do that.

         19  Instead, I'm going to talk about why we need this

         20  access to information, in both a kind of narrow and

         21  broader context.

         22                 The City Council is charged with

         23  passing a budget and then doing oversight on that

         24  budget and the policies and outcomes that that

         25  budget funds. And there's no way to do adequate
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          2  oversight without having adequate information.

          3                 So, for example, if the Finance

          4  Division is asked by a Council member to track a

          5  project, to see what the project schedule is, to

          6  examine funding sources, we are unable to do that at

          7  this time.

          8                 We cannot give a member an update on

          9  how a project he or she is interested in is

         10  progressing in the capital budget.

         11                 We cannot do summaries of how all the

         12  projects are progressing. We can't look at projects

         13  that members perhaps don't want going forward.

         14                 We have no way to judge the

         15  efficiency or effectiveness of how we manage the

         16  capital budget. And essentially it makes it

         17  difficult, if not impossible, for the Council to

         18  perform its oversight function, which is a

         19  Charter-mandated requirement.

         20                 And in the larger scheme of things,

         21  it's also makes it very difficult to promote greater

         22  efficiency. It makes it much more difficult for the

         23  Council to require that the Administration respond

         24  to the Council Members' constituents. And this is

         25  not just bad in terms of how we manage a budget,
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          2  it's also bad in how we manage our democracy.

          3                 The point of having a Council is to

          4  have checks and balances on an Executive. That's

          5  what legislatures do. And without timely, accurate,

          6  and adequate information, legislatures cannot

          7  perform that function. This is a bad thing, as I

          8  said, not just because it may mean the budget

          9  doesn't work as smoothly as possible, but it also

         10  means that an entire branch of government cannot

         11  perform a role that is traditional in this system.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         13  Moskowitz.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Ms. Angelo,

         15  can you give me some sense of what information you

         16  do get?  My understanding is that there is some

         17  communications that come from OMB; can you talk a

         18  little bit about what that information is and why we

         19  need access to the screens, rather than these

         20  written communications that we get?

         21                 MR. WOJCIK: It depends what kind of

         22  information is being transmitted. If we ask, for

         23  example, OMB for a status on a specific project,

         24  then we have to rely on OMB's response.

         25                 The problem with that is typically
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          2  information will be agreed upon during the budget

          3  process but then numbers will change, project

          4  estimates will change, projects may be delayed and

          5  we may not be able to see that. So, we are forced to

          6  wait for the information, which sometimes comes

          7  quickly, sometimes does not, and sometimes it's

          8  conflicted by what an agency is telling us the

          9  status of the project is. During -- I was going to

         10  say during the planning process, like during the

         11  actual budget negotiation process, we will be given

         12  reports of what the new proposed plans are, but

         13  we're given them in a format that's fairly unusable

         14  in terms of analysis. It's electronic format in some

         15  cases, but it's not the kind of formats where you

         16  can use the numbers, analyze the numbers, and do

         17  meaningful analyses of the proposals. So what you

         18  have to do is you have to take all that information

         19  and recreate it into its own spreadsheets, or our

         20  own databases, and then to manipulate it at that

         21  point.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Just so I

         23  understand, there are two problems:  One is that OMB

         24  presumably doesn't respond always with lightning

         25  speed to our requests for information, that's
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          2  certainly been my experience. And two, even if they

          3  did, the information is not in real time. It's

          4  outdated. Am I characterizing the problem correctly?

          5                 MR. WOJCIK: Yes, that's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          7                 Let me ask another question. I've had

          8  this particular problem with capital projects, but

          9  presumably is there the same need on the operating

         10  side? Do we have access to information on the

         11  operating side or do we really need a bill that

         12  covers both capital and operating?

         13                 MS. ANGELO: It's been my experience

         14  that we have somewhat better access on the operating

         15  side than on the capital side. But even on the

         16  operating side, we really don't have access to all

         17  that we need. And you know, part of the question

         18  here on both capital and operating is why not? As

         19  you pointed out, Councilwoman, the system costs over

         20  $200 million to redo. The information is there.

         21  There is no additional costs in giving the Council

         22  access to it. So the question remains why not? I was

         23  just as you were talking before thinking about a

         24  printout we got on education projects, and part of

         25  the problem we had is that we could not, given the
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          2  printout, get a sense of how many projects were

          3  behind schedule, or how many projects were actually

          4  over budget, or for that matter, under budget,

          5  because the information we get has already been

          6  preprocessed by OMB. So, for example, we couldn't,

          7  except in a handful of cases, look at a project and

          8  figure out if it was costing more than originally

          9  estimated. Which in of itself is not a terrible

         10  thing, I mean projects can cost more or less for a

         11  variety of very good reasons, but it's the kind of

         12  basic information, the Council member will ask the

         13  Division and we will be just unable to respond.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         16  by a few more members of the Finance Committee. We

         17  have Council Member Mike McMahon from Staten Island;

         18  Council Member Tracy Boyland from Brooklyn; and

         19  Council Member Christine Quinn, I think I saw come

         20  in, from Manhattan. I know I saw her come in. She's

         21  quick. She will be joining us shortly.

         22                 Ms. Angelo, this year, as you know,

         23  the budget was passed very late in the process,

         24  almost at the turn of the fiscal year. Wouldn't you

         25  agree it's in the City's best interest to have the
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          2  most efficient and accurate review process in place?

          3                 MS. ANGELO: Yeah, absolutely. And the

          4  problem you're pointing out was a very difficult one

          5  in June. According to the Charter, if the City does

          6  not pass a budget on time, which means by the end of

          7  the fiscal year, the old budget remains in effect.

          8  And that seems to be not such a terrible thing. I

          9  mean, you always have time to go back and eventually

         10  pass a budget. But in this particular year, there

         11  was a surplus roll of $1.3 billion that was at

         12  stake, and as an accounting and legal matter, had we

         13  not done the budget modification by June 30th, in

         14  fact a few days before that, we would have been

         15  unable to roll that money. It would have been a $1.3

         16  billion deduction from this year's budget. We would

         17  never have been able to recognize those funds again.

         18                 And, so, good information, accurate

         19  and timely information, helps the process along. We,

         20  again, also on the operating side had a very

         21  difficult time trying to estimate the roll. Because

         22  again, we don't get the most accurate and up to date

         23  and timely information available.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. The rest of

         25  Council Member Christine Quinn is here, as well. I
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          2  introduced you and Council Member Fidler indicated

          3  that your pocketbook was here, but you were on your

          4  way.

          5                 Ms. Angelo, has there been any

          6  discussions officially or unofficially between the

          7  Finance Division and OMB about having access to the

          8  Financial Management System, either before this

          9  legislation was introduced or after the legislation

         10  was introduced?

         11                 MS. ANGELO: Yes, we have been having

         12  discussions with OMB on screens and information that

         13  we need for at least, I don't know, a year and a

         14  half, two years, perhaps.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And what's been

         16  the reaction, or any objections?

         17                 MS. ANGELO: You know, in my opinion,

         18  OMB has several legitimate reservations about what

         19  we get and when. I mean, there is a process they

         20  need to go through with their agencies, and

         21  understandably that should be a process between OMB

         22  and the agencies, not between OMB and the Council

         23  and the agencies. So that's certainly

         24  understandable.

         25                 On the other hand, those objections
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          2  and reservations are actually fairly minor, in terms

          3  of the information we want. I believe that there is

          4  a willingness on the part of OMB to begin seriously

          5  talking with us at this point about having access to

          6  a wider range of FMS screens and reports.

          7                 The hope is that there will be a

          8  mutually acceptable resolution to this issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         10  Provenzano.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 Assuming that this Intro is passed,

         14  what would be the process?

         15                 What would have to happen to get you

         16  hooked up to FMS?

         17                 What would be the timeframe before it

         18  would be up and running?

         19                 MS. ANGELO: I'm not sure what the

         20  technical difficulties might be. My understanding is

         21  that they will be relatively minor, and that OMB

         22  will be probably be in a better position to

         23  represent that. I don't think that they are enormous

         24  difficulties. I mean, we already do have access to

         25  FMS, just not as much access as we need.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay, so,

          3  OMB certainly has access to FMS. So, in the

          4  discussion before, when Council Member Moskowitz was

          5  talking about getting information from them, or when

          6  you're talking about getting information with them,

          7  it's not that they don't have the access, it's just

          8  here's the information and there is a time lag

          9  between them just giving it to you. So they actually

         10  have this information, they're just peddling around.

         11                 MS. ANGELO: Yes, We're not asking for

         12  anything new to be created. We're not asking them to

         13  gather additional information. This is information

         14  they have. And in fact, other fiscal monitors, like

         15  the IBO, have access to a much wider range of

         16  information than the Council does, making it very

         17  difficult for the Council to do a good budget

         18  process.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So you

         20  don't have to make any adjustments to the computers,

         21  or you don't have to add anything, it's just a

         22  matter of, okay, we want to get in.

         23                 MS. ANGELO: Yes.  I'm not the person

         24  to talk to about how you actually get this done

         25  technically on the computer. But my understanding is

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  that there is no large hurdles to having it done.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay,

          4  thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If there are no

          6  further questions, we have -- okay. Council Member

          7  Boyland?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: In regards to

          9  access to our capital and expense dollars, operating

         10  dollars, where is the Comptroller's office in this

         11  process? Or is it just a breach in communication

         12  between across the hall and this side of the hall?

         13                 MS. ANGELO: My understanding is the

         14  Comptroller has access to a wider range of

         15  information than we have on the FMS system, and that

         16  sometimes we do go to the Comptroller to get

         17  additional information we need. But then, of course,

         18  that puts the Council in a very awkward position. I

         19  mean, the Council passes the budget and we should

         20  not have to go around begging other institutions to

         21  get information.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Correct.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any further

         25  questions for this witness?
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          2                 Thank you. We now have the First

          3  Deputy Budget Director, Stuart Klein.

          4                 Council Member Fidler would like to

          5  point out, a formal classmate of both himself and me

          6  at SUNY Albany, and I think he's going to be joined

          7  by Robert Townsend from FISA.

          8                 I know that wasn't grammatically

          9  correct.

         10                 Mr. Klein, do you have an opening

         11  statement?

         12                 MR. KLEIN: No, I don't. But I'll be

         13  glad to answer any questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Mr.

         15  Townsend, do you have any statement?

         16                 MR. TOWNSEND: No, I don't. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'll start off.

         18  You heard the testimony of Ms. Angelo and Council

         19  Member Moskowitz, who's the prime sponsor of this

         20  legislation; do you have any objection to providing

         21  the Council with the access to the Financial

         22  Management System?

         23                 MR. KLEIN: Overall, I don't have any

         24  objection to providing the Council with the

         25  information that's in the Financial Management
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          2  System. We do have some problems, however, with the

          3  way the individual piece of legislation is laid out.

          4                 I guess the major problem is that, as

          5  the Finance Director said, that the bill calls for

          6  planning information to be available to the Council,

          7  and to this point, that type of information, both on

          8  expense and capital, has been between the Mayor and

          9  his commissioners, and I've been advised by the Law

         10  Department that there is a privilege to that

         11  information.

         12                 In terms of actual information on

         13  spending and appropriations once they're adopted,

         14  I'm pretty certain we'll be able to find a way to

         15  meet the Council's requirements.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm not sure that

         17  answered the question.

         18                 MR. KLEIN: As I said, we've been

         19  speaking with the Council. We've done a lot of work

         20  so far. The Director is committed to meeting with

         21  the Council and satisfying specific requests. I

         22  think that there's a lot more information that's

         23  presented to the Council in a routine basis that

         24  provides them with this information.

         25                 Obviously, it doesn't seem to be in a
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          2  format that they find useful, so we're willing to

          3  work with them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. When you

          5  are referring to planning information, are you

          6  referring to the forecast screens?

          7                 MR. KLEIN: No.  Actually I'm

          8  referring to development of both, to development of

          9  budgets, both on the expense and capital side, where

         10  the Mayor asked agencies to either reduce their

         11  programs or come forward with requests for new

         12  needs, those needs are evaluated by the

         13  administration, both targets are set in terms of

         14  reductions. Agencies transmit that information

         15  electronically to OMB. All that information is draft

         16  and preliminary to the final publication of either a

         17  commitment plan or the budget, and that's the kind

         18  of information I'm talking about.

         19                 Once the budget is adopted or

         20  quarterly, when we update the financial plan, all

         21  that information from that point forward would be

         22  made available.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         24  Moskowitz, did you have a question?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: When you
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          2  say -- did you say will be made available or would?

          3  I thought I heard a would. It's not available

          4  currently.

          5                 MR. KLEIN: I think the information is

          6  available currently. It may not be in a format that

          7  the Council finds useful. But I believe it is

          8  available currently.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So the

         10  various screens that we're talking about --

         11                 MR. KLEIN: Let's talk about

         12  information for a moment. The Charter has a

         13  requirement that three times a year we publish

         14  what's known as a "commitment plan", which lists

         15  plan commitments for given projects, it lists

         16  milestones for those projects, it lists schedules

         17  for those projects. We publish that information on

         18  paper three times a year. It's also available on

         19  OMB's website.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I

         21  understand that. But I'm not interested in that at

         22  the moment. I'm very interested in that in general,

         23  but when I want to know in real time where a project

         24  is in the government bureaucratic pipeline, I would

         25  need to get onto FMS and you're not disputing that
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          2  the Council can't access certain screens on FMS, or

          3  are you?

          4                 MR. KLEIN: They currently cannot

          5  access certain screens on FMS. However, I would like

          6  to add that we've been working with them to develop

          7  screens so that they could access that information.

          8  And as a matter of fact, if you could bring those

          9  screens over here. What I've done is laid out

         10  exactly what information we're planning and we've

         11  been working with the Council to make available.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: When you

         13  say planning, would you say in the last two weeks or

         14  last year and a half, or how long has this working

         15  been going on?

         16                 MR. KLEIN: I think it got a lot more

         17  serious after we adopted the budget this year. As

         18  part of adopting the budget, we committed to Finance

         19  Division staff to establish these screens. You can

         20  see here for a given capital project, we would have

         21  description of Council's location, its start date,

         22  as well as what Council districts the project was

         23  in, and plan commitments.

         24                 And on this screen here, we would

         25  actually give you the amount of contracts that were
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          2  entered in for each contract, how much spending has

          3  occurred, both for the current year and since the

          4  project started.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Is there a

          6  memo memorializing what you are prepared to give the

          7  Council access to?

          8                 MR. KLEIN: I believe there's a design

          9  document which lays these things out. We certainly

         10  shared the screens with the Council and we've

         11  committed to them that they would be put into

         12  production by mid-November -- by December, excuse

         13  me.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: And when

         15  was the design document written?

         16                 MR. KLEIN: What?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: When was

         18  the design --

         19                 MR. KLEIN: Since we adopted the

         20  budget it was developed.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So the

         22  design document was written sometime after June

         23  30th?

         24                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Can you
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          2  give me a date?

          3                 MR. KLEIN: No. It was developed --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:

          5  Approximately. We are talking July, August,

          6  September.

          7                 MR. KLEIN: It was probably developed

          8  during July and August.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Could

         10  the Committee -- it would be helpful, Chair Weprin,

         11  if we could get a copy of the design document.

         12                 MR. KLEIN: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I agree.

         14                 MR. KLEIN: We'll provide that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I understand, Mr.

         16  Klein, part of the problem that we have in our

         17  capital side of the Finance Division is that the

         18  information, as you just testified, is only provided

         19  to the Council three times a year, and there is a

         20  lot of time in between when we would like to know

         21  the status of a particular capital project, other

         22  than those three times a year, and we have

         23  difficulty obtaining that information, and that

         24  obviously hinders our planning. So, I assume you

         25  would not object to us getting that information in
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          2  between the three times a year?

          3                 MR. KLEIN: What this screen will do

          4  will give you the current information on each of

          5  those projects. The screen will have the commitments

          6  and liquidated amounts will be current.

          7                 It comes directly from the accounting

          8  portion of the system. So that whenever you look

          9  you'll be able to see how much was spent. And it

         10  will also contain the agency's current forecast. I'd

         11  like to point out that also as part of our

         12  agreement, we've offered to Finance Division Staff,

         13  to have meetings with agencies during the year and

         14  their capital people to actually monitor the status

         15  of the projects that the Council added during

         16  adoption. And we would anticipate having the first

         17  of those meetings probably during the next month.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         19  by some more members of the Finance Committee since

         20  my last round of introductions. We have Council

         21  Member Helen Sears from Queens. We have as in order

         22  that I saw them. Our Deputy Majority Leader, Bill

         23  Perkins from Manhattan; Council Member Dennis

         24  Gallagher from Queens, and our Minority Leader

         25  Councilman Jim Oddo from Staten Island. Welcome.
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          2  Council Member Moskowitz?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Just one

          4  more question. Thank you, Mr. Chair. Let me --

          5  comment than a question. I appreciate obviously the

          6  offer to have meetings. But like your boss, Mayor

          7  Bloomberg, sometimes believe there are too many

          8  meetings, I understand it that he had a policy when

          9  he worked at Bloomberg of not providing chairs

         10  because he found that the meetings went more quickly

         11  if people didn't have chairs. And I think that --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That would work

         13  in the City Council.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Maybe we'll

         15  adopt that. But meetings generally are more

         16  productive when people have the information in

         17  advance. And then when they have kind of follow up

         18  questions. Let me ask you a question. How many

         19  screens is the City Council interested in having

         20  access to and how many in your design document are

         21  you proposing giving access to?

         22                 MR. KLEIN: The law as I saw it

         23  requested access to all screens. What we're talking

         24  about here are four screens which we think would

         25  give you a very comprehensive view of the status of
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          2  every capital project.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Just for

          4  the record. My sense is that we're asking for

          5  approximately 24 screens and that you're offering

          6  three or four, and that's not really adequate for us

          7  to do our Charter mandated work in Section 29 of the

          8  Charter for oversight. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         10  Nelson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 I was just wondering, as far as

         14  allowing us all this information at FMS, do you

         15  think there may be some contradiction with this in

         16  the Charter to do our oversight powers?

         17                 MR. KLEIN: I think that by giving you

         18  this information, it will assist in doing the

         19  oversight you need to do. It's required by the

         20  charter. It will assist you in doing that oversight.

         21  In the past, you had to go to printed documents.

         22  This will give you the documents -- this will give

         23  you the information currently and on line.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I don't mean

         25  to be sounding facetious at all. But we do have this
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          2  mandated obligation to try to do the best that we

          3  can, given the short amount of time that we have;

          4  given the limited amount of information that we

          5  receive. We would appreciate your cooperation very

          6  much. I'm a prime co-sponsor of this and I

          7  complement Council Member Moskowitz for really

          8  fighting to try to get us as much information as

          9  possible. So I just hope that you understand where

         10  we're coming from. I'm sure you do.

         11                 MR. KLEIN: I think that we're

         12  attempting to provide you with the information that

         13  you've requested to monitor the program. I think

         14  what we're discussing is the format in which we'll

         15  be providing you with that information. And that's

         16  why we've offered to sit down with you, with Finance

         17  Division staff, and talk about the format. It's not

         18  as quite so simple as just turning on a screen. A

         19  lot of these screens are interlinked. The security

         20  between the planning screens and the operational

         21  screens is also linked. And there would be some

         22  effort to just give the Council the kind of access

         23  it wants. I'm not saying it's insurmountable effort.

         24  But, I think that what we're offering to do is to

         25  get you the kinds of information that you want.
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          2  Maybe in a different format slightly. But get you

          3  the kind both with quality and quantity of

          4  information that's needed to monitor the program. I

          5  think these screens are a very good first start. And

          6  quite frankly, you can't -- I don't know of any

          7  system or screen that will substitute from sitting

          8  down and talking with the people who are actually

          9  implementing that capital project. Because I've been

         10  doing this for quite a long time and every project

         11  has a story. You'll never capture the story on the

         12  screen. You'll never get a sense as to why that

         13  project is delayed or in rare instances why it's

         14  moving forward --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, it's

         16  analogous to actually reading a book or actually

         17  on-the-job training, I agree. But what we're asking

         18  for is obviously a combination of both. We

         19  appreciate your cooperation. Sitting down in rooms

         20  as well. But more than three or four screens also.

         21  So we can just access it. It could be a weekend. It

         22  could be a evening.

         23                 MR. KLEIN: I also want to point out

         24  that Council currently has access to a number of

         25  screens in both the budget and accounting system.
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          2  And I think there are some 20 odd screens in the

          3  system that they have access to now in addition to

          4  these. A lot of those screens provide you with

          5  current accounting information in terms of actual

          6  spending both on the expense and capital side.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: And, of

          8  course, we need it as current as possible. It's

          9  difficult working 30 days prior --

         10                 MR. KLEIN: All the information in the

         11  system is current.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Up to that

         13  date?

         14                 MR. KLEIN: It's up to that moment in

         15  most cases.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Klein, I have

         19  a question. Would the four screens that you

         20  proposing to give the Council access to allow the

         21  Finance Staff to download and use this data for

         22  further analysis?

         23                 MR. KLEIN: No. However, we would

         24  provide --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That could be a
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          2  problem.

          3                 MR. KLEIN: We would be able to

          4  provide the Council with information that they could

          5  manipulate. That would be able to serve the same

          6  purpose. There are problems with having multiple

          7  people go into the system and downloading

          8  information. I'd want to discuss with the Council

          9  what information they're looking for and we'll give

         10  it to them in a format that they can download it.

         11  Which they currently do not receive.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         13  Fidler.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 Stu, I understand that the screens

         17  that would be involved with the Mayor's discussion

         18  on planning information with his commissioners

         19  probably should remain private. I would assume my

         20  conversation with my committee Council would be

         21  private until the committee issues a document. How

         22  many screens are involved with that kind of

         23  information out of the 23 or 24 that you currently

         24  have?

         25                 MR. KLEIN: Quite frankly, I don't
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          2  know the number.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You can ball

          4  park it.

          5                 MR. KLEIN: The Council doesn't have

          6  access to any of those screens presently. I hesitate

          7  to guess.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm trying --

          9                 MR. KLEIN: Just 50 somewhere in that

         10   --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: How many?

         12                 MR. KLEIN: I'd say between 20 and 50.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I thought

         14  there were only 23 or 24 screens.

         15                 MR. KLEIN: No, I said that the

         16  Council currently has access to 20 screens in

         17  addition to these four that they're developing.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: What I'm

         19  really trying to get at is the last comment that

         20  Councilwoman Moskowitz made when she said that

         21  you're offering us four out of 24. And I was trying

         22  to crave out how many of them fall into this

         23  planning category so I can figure out what was left

         24  and ask you why not. Give us those. So, you're

         25  telling me that the numbers that I heard are not
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          2  accurate or incomplete somehow. I mean --

          3                 MR. KLEIN: I'm not familiar with the

          4  number that you heard. I can --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, we heard

          6  it right here.

          7                 MR. TOWNSEND: I don't know what the

          8  24 are that they're asking for.

          9                 MR. KLEIN: There is a very large

         10  number of screens within the system. I think a much

         11  better way to approach this is to decide what

         12  specific piece of information you want and work on

         13  getting that information to the Council. Rather than

         14  saying, you know, you have access to four screens or

         15  20 screens, just work on the specific information.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You know, I

         17  would flip that on its head and say, I think we

         18  should have access to all information that we

         19  possibly could have, unless there's a reason that we

         20  shouldn't.

         21                 You provided to me an arguably

         22  legitimate reason for why we shouldn't have certain

         23  information. The Mayor is entitled to meet with his

         24  managers in private. And that information until it

         25  becomes a result should be between the Mayor and his
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          2  agencies. What else shouldn't we have that is

          3  available by the screen? I would ask the question

          4  the opposite of the way you phrased it. Not what we

          5  want. We want everything. We're entitled to

          6  everything except things that we legitimately

          7  shouldn't have. Other than this, what shouldn't we

          8  legitimately have?

          9                 MR. KLEIN: I think in terms of

         10  inquiry screens. Once the budget is adopted, I would

         11  generally think that there are -- I would have to go

         12  back and review them. But off the top of my head, I

         13  would not have a problem giving you access to most

         14  of the screens from the ongoing budget system. The

         15   -- let me back up for a second. FMS is a system

         16  that's administered jointly by the Comptroller and

         17  the Mayor. All the screens on that provide

         18  accounting and actual spending information are

         19  administered by the Comptroller's office. So, I

         20  really can't commit to those screens. On the budget

         21  side, screens that actually administer the budget, I

         22  would not have a problem giving to you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, you have

         24  me at a disadvantage, Stu. Because you live and

         25  breathe this. And so what screens don't actually
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          2  involve the budget? I mean, or is that --

          3                 MR. KLEIN: Either accounting or

          4  planning.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Planning we

          6  just discussed --

          7                 MR. KLEIN: Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: -- That's

          9  between the Mayor and his agencies. Accounting. Why

         10  shouldn't we have accounting access?

         11                 MR. KLEIN: I don't have a problem

         12  with you having accounting access. That's all I'm

         13  saying. It's not something I can grant. Under the

         14  charter, the Comptroller administers that portion of

         15  the system.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm not asking

         17  you speak for the Comptroller. I'm sure we'll ask

         18  the Comptroller the same question if he has a

         19  problem with it. So, if I'm understanding you

         20  correctly, as far as OMB is concerned, the only

         21  screens you don't think we should have to access to

         22  are the ones that involve planning between the Mayor

         23  and the agencies?

         24                 MR. KLEIN: As I said, that's my

         25  immediate answer. I'd like to come back and look at
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          2  the screens. But conceptually, there is no

          3  information there. Basically, what those screens are

          4  going to tell you is how much of the -- how much of

          5  the budget you've authorized has been spent. It's

          6  not top secret information.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm not asking

          8  you work from memory. I think it's fair then to ask

          9  that you do go back, look at the screens, let the

         10  Council, let the committee know in short order as

         11  possible, if there's anything other than the

         12  planning screens that you don't think that we should

         13  have access to and why. Can we do that?

         14                 MR. KLEIN: Sure.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         16  Perkins.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 I guess I'll just try to follow up a

         20  little bit on some of the concerns that my colleague

         21  just suggested since they were partially what I was

         22  concerned about.

         23                 The way I read this is the Intro 508

         24  would call for unrestricted access to view and

         25  retrieve information from any financial management
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          2  system used by OMB to "track, plan and account for

          3  capital, estimates, appropriations and

          4  expenditures." Do you have a problem with that?

          5                 MR. KLEIN: As I said, to track

          6  appropriations and expenditures, I have no problems.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          8                 MR. KLEIN: The plan --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, that's

         10  the second part.

         11                 MR. KLEIN: The plan, I have some

         12  serious issues about communications between the

         13  Mayor and his commissioners.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Give me

         15  an idea, an example of how such a problem would

         16  manifest. Just so we can sort of understand why

         17  that's so important to you.

         18                 MR. KLEIN: As we develop the project,

         19  the budget, the Mayor asked his commissioners to

         20  either scale back sometimes or change the shape of

         21  their capital program. As part of the budget

         22  process, they forward lists of projects with new

         23  schedules and new cost estimates. And it's the

         24  commissioners view in terms of how those projects

         25  are going to find their way into the plan. Until the
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          2  Mayor makes that review, which is actually

          3  summarized by the budget director to the Mayor, we

          4  believe that kind of information should stay

          5  privileged and confidential between the Mayor and

          6  his commissioners.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Just for the

          8  sake of clarity, so that is not public information?

          9                 MR. KLEIN: We don't believe it is.

         10  I'm been advised by the law department that it is

         11  not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The law

         13  department advises that that information is not

         14  public. Is not subject to public scrutiny

         15  whatsoever?

         16                 MR. KLEIN: I believe that's the case.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. So,

         18  with respect to all other issues, you have no

         19  problem whatsoever with this bill?

         20                 MR. KLEIN: I have problems with the

         21  bills language that so says we want unrestricted

         22  access to everything. As I said, I'll go back --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Everything

         24  that's legal.

         25                 MR. KLEIN: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Other than

          3  planning, which seems to be the only thing that you

          4  would --

          5                 MR. KLEIN: Like I said, I would go

          6  back and review the screens and very shortly get

          7  back to Council staff to see if there's a reason why

          8  certain screens -- we would have to see if there are

          9  screens that we'll have a problem with.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

         11  you. Are there any secrets that you would want to

         12  keep to yourself that might not necessarily be legal

         13  secrets?

         14                 MR. KLEIN: Secrets?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you

         16  understand what I'm saying?  Because just to be

         17  forthcoming as possible, something you may not want

         18  us to know or that we want to know, whether it's

         19  legal or not; right? It's conceivable. You know how

         20  Council members are very nosy, very pushy, very

         21  aggressive and next thing you know we'll be on the

         22  steps to City Hall with the press saying something.

         23  Is there concern in that vain so to speak? I'm being

         24  a little facetious, but just want to get some sense

         25  of what might be some of your other concerns other
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          2  than these legal ones that you say prevent us from

          3  knowing about the planning discussions that the

          4  Mayor is having with his commissioners?

          5                 MR. KLEIN: As I said, I believe that

          6  we're willing to make available to you information

          7  on the projects. My concern comes more from a budget

          8  administration point of view in terms of having

          9  people sort of tying up the system. There are

         10  certain things that was not designed to do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When you say

         12  tie up the system, what do you mean? Do you think

         13  there will be an overload or making inquiries?

         14                 MR. KLEIN: Make inquiries. Have

         15  people who are not familiar with data.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You want to

         17  know something. If there's an overload of inquiries,

         18  that's a great concern. Because it means that people

         19  are interested in what you're doing. And in this

         20  kind of good government climate, you want to be

         21  used. You want people to be interested in what it is

         22  your doing. Because that's part of the democratic

         23  process.

         24                 MR. KLEIN: I actually think that --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I don't think
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          2  people would just go in there to be playing around.

          3                 MR. KLEIN: Yes, but I actually think

          4  that's a good thing too. And the appropriate way to

          5  deal with that is to figure out a way of getting the

          6  people the information that wouldn't tie up the

          7  system. And I think that's what we're attempting to

          8  do.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

         10                 Well, let me just say, I want to

         11  believe that you want us to have all that we want

         12  that's legally available to us. I have some sense

         13  that you have a reservation in that regard. I'm not

         14  exactly sure why from a governmental point of view

         15  or good government point of view, you would want to

         16  hold anything back. It would seem to me that if you

         17  have elected officials, Council Members in

         18  particular, who are interested in knowing and

         19  providing some sort of oversight on projects that

         20  are going on in the City, that could only be

         21  complementary. Especially if something is discovered

         22  that is good and/or bad. So, I'm not quite sure why

         23  you have this reservation. But I would like to

         24  believe that you're going to be working with us to

         25  open up this sort of closet of information that the
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          2  sponsors of the bill have in mind, and I think it's

          3  only for the sake of doing our jobs better, giving

          4  the people as much for their buck as possible in

          5  terms of what the Council is designed to do. I don't

          6  see that as an obstructive opportunity that we're

          7  asking for. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. I don't

          9  foresee too many people really requesting access to

         10  the system. I can imagine members of the Finance

         11  Division, maybe some Council Members, but certainly

         12  less than a 100. I couldn't imagine that overloading

         13  a $206 million system with a 100 or less people.

         14                 MR. KLEIN: It can be overloaded by

         15  one person.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, if it could

         17  be overloaded by one person, then I think maybe we

         18  should get our money back.

         19                 MR. KLEIN: You know, I think there's

         20  been a lot of discussion here about a $200 million

         21  system, and it's important to understand that FMS is

         22  the foundation really of how the City keeps its

         23  books and records.

         24                 This is in addition to capital

         25  projects, I mean it's the City's general ledger, all
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          2  our vendor payments are processed there, it's

          3  audited every year by independent accountants and

          4  has been since going back to the infamous days in

          5  1976. This is a very critical system to the way the

          6  City works. What you're asking for here is very

          7  important. But it's not what we spend $200 million

          8  on. It's a piece of it. We're attempting -- I think

          9  we're making a very good faith effort here to meet

         10  the needs and to come up with a much better way of

         11  monitoring projects. But there is a very large

         12  element to this system in terms of what it does. It

         13  helps us administer a $46 billion budget that you

         14  passed. That the Council passes. And it really is

         15  our --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Last year was

         17  only $43.8.

         18                 MR. KLEIN: Forty-five, I think.

         19  Depends on whether you look at it with or without

         20  intercity.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'd like to find

         22  that extra $3 billion dollars.

         23                 MR. KLEIN: I'll show it to you. I

         24  mean, I really want to emphasize how that this

         25  system is sort of fundamental to the way the City
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          2  operates. And we would not be able to carry on our

          3  business without it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          5  Perkins?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask a

          7  question because now that I'm into this, I would see

          8  if I could get better understanding. And if there's

          9  occasions when projects have to be delayed, I've

         10  noticed in my district that I will be told that I

         11  have to buy back a project. Like we will have put

         12  money into a project and it's moving forward. And

         13  then for some fiscal reasons that project is put

         14  into the out years unless I buy it back to keep it

         15  going along the stream that it was going. Or I will

         16  be notified that due to a delay of some sort, for

         17  some reason our project has been delayed other than

         18  the example I just gave. Does this system that you

         19  presently have, will it show me that kind of

         20  information?

         21                 MR. KLEIN: The way you would get that

         22  information is by producing what we call "variance

         23  reports" which will be available from this machinery

         24  to download data that we've committed to give the

         25  Council, and it will show you where the project was
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          2  scheduled last time and where it's scheduled now,

          3  and it will pop up all projects with differences,

          4  and then you could inquire as to what was the reason

          5  for that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Like for

          7  instance, there is a park in my district, and I hate

          8  to be very parochial about this, where a quarter of

          9  a million dollars was put aside for renovation of

         10  some steps, Morningside Park in particular. That

         11  project has been funded three times because it has

         12  been put into the out years. I've always wondered

         13  and when I've asked someone why it was that, they

         14  say because of fiscal reasons and so forth. But that

         15  if we put the money in again, then maybe we can keep

         16  moving the project along. And I've always wondered

         17  how does that compare to other districts. Are all

         18  districts being put in the same predicament? I can

         19  see how that information can be valuable to me, too.

         20  Because my constituents complain. Well, when are we

         21  going to get the steps. They don't know what it is

         22  that has happened. Why the steps have not been

         23  renovated. And if I tell them something like, well,

         24  the money has been put into the out years and the

         25  steps will be there in 2010, they say, well by the
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          2  time, I won't be here. You understand what I'm

          3  saying.

          4                 It helps me to say to them how their

          5  tax dollars are being spent and why. By comparison

          6  to other areas. Like I could say, well everybody has

          7  to do this. Or nobody has to do this but me because

          8  the Mayor doesn't like me. Or I don't have to -- you

          9  understand. Whatever the reason may be. But that

         10  helps us explain to people what is happening with

         11  their money. With their tax dollars from that point

         12  of view. Just to give you an example. Do you see

         13  that as a valuable possibility with this type of

         14  legislation?

         15                 MR. KLEIN: I think that --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I can even

         17  tell them, go to the screens and see for yourself.

         18                 MR. KLEIN: I don't think you'll ever

         19  be able to do that. No matter what kind of screens

         20  we design. I think that's one piece of information

         21  that's useful in reviewing the budget and

         22  understanding the priorities. But generally, a

         23  commissioner submits a program for their department

         24  within a dollar target. And if that dollar target is

         25  smaller than the current program, the project
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          2  slipped into the out years of the program. And I

          3  think you can compare by seeing which projects

          4  within the allocation are going forward. And how

          5  those stack up. And when the Council passes the

          6  budget, there's an opportunity to rearrange the

          7  program.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Chair Katz has

          9  asked me announce that the Land Use Committee is

         10  starting in the Council Chamber right now.

         11                 Council Member Moskowitz.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I just

         13  wanted to respond to something that Mr. Klein said.

         14  You seem to imply that the $205 million dollars,

         15  there were suggestion that was excessive and there

         16  was some kind of critique. I'm a big believer in

         17  investing in technology and the Council along with

         18  the then Mayor appropriated the $205 million.  So

         19  let's not confuse who is supporting this major

         20  investment. And I was on the Council. I don't know

         21  if you were here at the beginning. When I was

         22  promised that the Council was going to have access

         23  to FMS. It was one of the first questions I had on

         24  the City Council. Because when I came on board,

         25  there were $7 million dollars worth of projects that
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          2  had not been completed, even started by my

          3  predecessor and I wanted to know why. And I was

          4  promised, well as soon as we spend this money, FMS

          5  is going to tell us everything and the world will be

          6  a better place.

          7                 Now in terms of your good faith

          8  effort, I don't mean in any way to malign character,

          9  but I can't let that statement go unresponded to.

         10  Because as my mother used to say, the road to hell

         11  is paved with good intentions. The end result is

         12  that we have not gotten the information and it's

         13  required, introducing legislation to light a fire

         14  under OMB. We shouldn't have to do this. You should

         15  have the same level of commitment to good government

         16  as we do, and that is a results-oriented thing.

         17  Let's not talk about good faith. Let's see the

         18  results. I don't frankly see the good faith until

         19  very, very recently after introducing the

         20  legislation. Then I see a flurry of phone calls, all

         21  concerned, oh, no, no, no. It would be nice if we

         22  could get that the first time we asked. The first

         23  time it was a problem, there didn't seem to be any

         24  rush to fix the problem. So I'm a little prickly

         25  about good faith. I'd like to believe it, but I'll
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          2  believe when I see it.

          3                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          5  Sears.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 I don't really have a question. I

          9  think that I have to say -- I'm a sponsor of this

         10  bill because it is not the intent to weaken any of

         11  the Mayor's or the administrations prerogatives and

         12  what they're responsibilities are. So I think you

         13  need to have that premised. Nor is it designed to

         14  interfere with the responsibilities of the Mayor and

         15  his commissioners. So I think that if you have that

         16  set, that's certainly is the thrust of what this

         17  basically is. Or what it doesn't do. What it's

         18  designed to do and in listening to you, that there

         19  may be some technical glitches that will have to be

         20  smoothed out or to work out is to help us. That we

         21  can keep track of the capital budget so that when we

         22  do the budget and we do that in a long process, that

         23  we are able to know where things are. What monies

         24  haven't been spent. Because when we are asked to

         25  make the unbelievable cuts that we have to do
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          2  because New York City has had a very difficult time

          3  and support the Mayor in those cuts and we come to a

          4  mutual agreement, it is only fair to us as the

          5  Council Members that we do that cognizant of what

          6  has been cut back. What hasn't been spent. And what

          7  we are able to do. So, if there are screens that are

          8  going to enable us to do that, I think that you need

          9  to work out what may be imposing on those areas that

         10  you feel should not be in the Administration and

         11  come back to us with the ironing out of those

         12  technical glitches

         13                 Because I think what's being asked

         14  for is something that enables us to in some way

         15  short cut a very lengthy process. And to make us far

         16  more knowledgeable in what we have to do to meet our

         17  responsibilities. I think that you need to take that

         18  back. You need to come back with -- to this

         19  committee, how you can do that; recognizing and

         20  maintaining the privacy. I run a hospital and I

         21  understand very well. As a CEO, it was my

         22  prerogative to deal with my executive board and the

         23  rest of the hospital was not privy to that. There

         24  was a time, however, when they became privy as what

         25  the solutions were. And I think that's basically
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          2  what you're being asked to do. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. We

          4  have another witness on this legislation, Douglas

          5  Levine. Is Mr. Levine in the house? Thank you,

          6  gentlemen.

          7                 Mr. Levine, do you have prepared

          8  testimony?

          9                 MR. LEVINE: Yes, I have prepared

         10  testimony that I've submitted, but I will read from

         11  some of it and I'll try to skip around as best I can

         12  so as to keep it as short as I possibly can.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. We

         14  appreciate that.

         15                 MR. LEVINE: I'd like to thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair, for according me the opportunity to speak

         17  on this matter of accounting for projects funded by

         18  the capital budget of New York City.

         19                 I'd like to say this is not in my

         20  prepared remarks, but I speak basically with one

         21  tongue, one voice, but two hats. One hat that I wear

         22  is that of a project manager and program manager

         23  having designed software in telecom systems for over

         24  20 years. Eight and half of which were as an

         25  assistant commissioner of IT at DoITT of the City of
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          2  New York. Secondly, the second hat that I wear is

          3  that of just a citizen who is very concerned about

          4  his City. And I'd just like to give a little

          5  background. As a private citizen in 1993, I had

          6  acquired a very keen interest in the fiscal health

          7  of my City, as we were facing an impending fiscal

          8  crisis. The then expense budget of approximately

          9  $31.5 billion dollars was faced with a projected

         10  deficit of $2.3 billion. Working with another very

         11  dedicated City resident with great expertise in

         12  graphics and human factors in visual understanding,

         13  we undertook a project that was a labor of love.

         14                 The project evaluated the evolution

         15  of the expense budget from fiscal '89 through '93

         16  and the projected budgets through '97. Visual

         17  depictions of the findings were highly revealing and

         18  were presented at two press conferences with a rally

         19  of dozen of interested parties under an ad hoc

         20  umbrella group called the Concerned Citizens of New

         21  York.

         22                 Some of the most prominent findings

         23  included the following: 1. A plan to balance the

         24  budget in the outlying years by dramatically

         25  increasing the tax burden of the personal income tax
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          2  to over $3.6 billion for fiscal '94. This single tax

          3  category then represented 16.7 percent of the local

          4  tax revenues, up from nearly $2.5 billion in fiscal

          5   '89. It represented a 14.1 percent of that year's

          6  local revenue. Secondly, that MAC debt and general

          7  debt and lease purchases collectively represented

          8  nine percent of the entire expense budget or

          9  approximately $3 billion dollars. This was greater

         10  than the eight percent of the City's adopted expense

         11  budget that was allocated to all of the Police

         12  Department and the Fire Department combined.

         13                 A subsequent brief inquiry into the

         14  City's capital budget at that time, indicated that

         15  there were different levels of scrutiny involved in

         16  the approval of new capital budgets versus the

         17  maintenance of existing capital budgets.

         18                 While that situation may have changed

         19  in the interim, I recollect that the latter projects

         20  was subject to far less scrutiny, none in fact,

         21  below a certain dollar value.

         22                 In addition, from my preliminary

         23  analysis, there seemed to be no policy at that time

         24  to target specific amounts of expense dollars to the

         25  prudent annual maintenance of capital structures
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          2  whose useful life can vary from a minimum of five

          3  years to 50 years, I believe, in the case of a

          4  bridge. Speaking of bridges, the Williamsburg bridge

          5  around 1993 required in the neighborhood of over a

          6  billion dollars to address structural damage that

          7  could have been forestalled via more frequent paint

          8  jobs. The expense monies of that had been

          9  re-allocated during the budget crisis in the early

         10  1990's and this speaks to this particular problem.

         11                 I recall citations of technical

         12  prescriptions that spoke to these optimal

         13  relationships that is the minimum amount of expense

         14  budget based care that was required to prolong the

         15  useful life of key, if not critical, City

         16  infrastructure. My question is, how do these

         17  technical recommendations translate into formal

         18  prescriptions of a regulatory or guideline nature? I

         19  cite the abovementioned examples as they, in

         20  addition to the cost of capital, are key factors and

         21  variables in the need to raise additional capital

         22  and thus consequently, for the total debt

         23  outstanding.

         24                 Now, I've been a project manager and

         25  program manager for software and telecom projects
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          2  over 20 years. I just mentioned this. And as

          3  Assistant Commissioner of IT at DoITT, I manage and

          4  in some instances design several enterprise wide

          5  projects. The Criminal Justice Data Sharing System

          6  known as DataShare; Multimedia Kiosk Demonstration

          7  Project; Public Pay Telephone, otherwise known as

          8  PPT; the IT infrastructure; Institutional Fiber

          9  Optic Network (I- NET); and wearable mobile devices

         10  for inspection of public pay telephones. A classic

         11  question in project management recited like a

         12  catechism goes as follows: Question: How does a

         13  project become late? The answer is: One day at a

         14  time.

         15                 Indeed, without formal project

         16  planning, tracking, and associated risk planning and

         17  management, days becomes weeks, weeks become months,

         18  and months, sad to say, can become years. Like the

         19  classic project management question, I submit to you

         20  the following: Question: How does a capital budget

         21  become filled with cost overruns and delayed

         22  schedules, and thus become bloated? The answer is

         23  and I interchanged it on what I wrote. The answer

         24  is: One poorly or nonmanaged and likely

         25  nonmeasurable project at a time.
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          2                 A quick read of the City's debt

          3  situation indicates a lot of pertinent facts which

          4  having submitted them into the public record, I will

          5  not go through. But what I want to say is that the

          6  depletion of financial resources that we've

          7  experienced is in part attributable to 9/11 and it's

          8  aftermath, yet only in part. One cannot give blood

          9  when one needs a transfusion. And neither can one

         10  further spend beyond one's means when one is already

         11  overextended. Make no mistake about it, monies are

         12  the circulatory system of City government. There are

         13  neither goods nor services without it.

         14                 This brings us to the projects that

         15  comprised the City's capital budget. Whereas the

         16  City measures the spending and obligation incurred

         17  by a capital project, there is in fact no

         18  information that is made public that provides

         19  detailed project levels for a capital project. From

         20  a project management point of view, merely tracking

         21  the finances of a project without tracking the

         22  schedule and the resources allocated to the

         23  projects' tasks, that it is essentially all the

         24  components of what the monies are going into is

         25  tantamount to a project not being managed. The term
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          2  project management in such a schema is a

          3  contradiction in terms, for there can be little

          4  projects management worth speaking of. Of course,

          5  there will always be what are referred to in project

          6  management literature and lore, as "heroes". Those

          7  individuals who by their inspiration and

          8  perspiration as they say, struggle valiantly to

          9  ensure the reasonable successful completion of a

         10  project.

         11                 In an enterprise that has literally

         12  thousands of projects ongoing at a give time, it is

         13  necessary to institutionalize formal methods of

         14  project management and their quantitative

         15  measurement. Within the software world such a

         16  working paradigm, known as the Common Maturity Model

         17  (CMM) has evolved over the past 25 years. It was

         18  founded at the System Engineering Institute at

         19  Carnegie- Mellon University by a large consortium of

         20  large aerospace and defense companies as even then

         21  they faced a landscape of failed, expensive

         22  projects, with hundreds of thousands and even

         23  millions of lines of software code. This model,

         24  actually for the measurement of an organization's

         25  capability to produce quality systems, forms a
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          2  detailed collection of best practices and procedures

          3  that is based upon the interplay of three components

          4  integral to the software development process, plus a

          5  fourth. The first three are: People, technology, and

          6  process. Specific aspects of each of these three

          7  areas are then subject to quantitative measurement.

          8                 Time does not allow for what is a

          9  major issue of which multitudes of books and

         10  literature abounds. How does one measure -- how does

         11  one best measure the progress of a project. A

         12  critical guiding principle is not to measure

         13  activity (as it is generally illusory), but rather

         14  to only measure defined outcomes. There is an old

         15  software project adage that goes as follows: It

         16  takes 90 percent of the time to finish the first 90

         17  percent of a project and then another 90 percent of

         18  the time to finish the remaining 10 percent. The

         19  project horizon tends frequently to run away as one

         20  gets closer to it.

         21                 With a bit more specificity, I will

         22  submit a very partial list of key considerations

         23  that I think you should think about in the

         24  actualization of any proposed legislation. And by

         25  the way, for the record, I have not -- I've only
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          2  read the abstract of the legislation, not the

          3  content for the proposed legislation as yet.

          4                 First, you should have a well defined

          5  process that is documented and graphically depicted,

          6  that all parties and I emphasize all parties, in the

          7  data acquisition process understand completely.

          8                 Second, ensure that there is

          9  executive buy-in by the commissioners of each

         10  participating agency that must submit and process

         11  the capital project data.

         12                 Third, ensure that meaningful

         13  completely agreed upon or otherwise specified

         14  milestones have been defined for each and every

         15  project. These will likely vary by type of project

         16  as well.

         17                 Four, a specific agency must own the

         18  responsibility to acquire the data and ensure that

         19  it is captured on what's referred to as a

         20  normalized, that is on a non-redundant basis. These

         21  are relational database for easy distribution via

         22  reports, Intranet, Intranet web site, whatever it

         23  may be.

         24                 Five, existing project data is likely

         25  to be what we refer to in the software business as
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          2  dirty. Now while "dirty" data is not a dirty word,

          3  it presents very significant challenges as far as

          4  conformance with the new rules of data that will be

          5  set forth.

          6                 Six, and I have just up to nine;

          7  ensure that all submittals of new projects and all

          8  project updates are logged so that a complete

          9  historical audit trail exists for the project,

         10  submitter, agency, date of submittal and other

         11  pertinent fields.

         12                 Seven, be concerned of security

         13  regarding projects that may pertain to public safety

         14  and security. Not all information that is public

         15  should necessarily be accessible. Some information,

         16  perhaps, ought not to be public at all. And I had

         17  informally responded to Council Member Perkins'

         18  question in this regard. A specific example might be

         19  special project plans for the security of elected

         20  officials. I don't think this is appropriate to be

         21  made public, as to any aspect of the project,

         22  whether it's done, half done, two thirds done,

         23  whatever.

         24                 Eight, have a very senior project

         25  manager be in charge of this project and have a

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  detailed project plan that specifies at a very

          3  minimum the following stakeholder agreed upon

          4  documents. A, business/functional requirements; b,

          5  complete database design; c, project schedules,

          6  human resources and costs; d, change management,

          7  there are always requests for new functionality,

          8  screen interfaces, reports, queries during the

          9  entire lifetime of a project. Also user, system

         10  administrator and software engineering

         11  documentation.

         12                 The final major point, number nine,

         13  ensure that the presentation of the project data is

         14  extremely useful to all parties. That it is not

         15  merely an accumulation of numbers and text, but

         16  rather that the multitude of data be made

         17  comprehensible via the use of highly intuitive

         18  graphics and other visual presentation formats. I

         19  have learned this from some wonderful experts in the

         20  field and may soon host some macro analyses of both

         21  the City's expenses and capital budgets on my own

         22  firm's web site in this particular manner.

         23                 I guess I'll cut it off here as there

         24  is only a very distant end to the above. I will say

         25  that I think this is a very important and noble
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          2  endeavor. One that can yield tangible benefits to

          3  citizens, City managers and executives as well as

          4  elected officials. Do not underestimate its

          5  complexity. Thank you very much for the time that

          6  you've allotted to me.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Levine, thank

          8  you so much for being a concerned citizen, and

          9  obviously a concerned citizen with prior knowledge

         10  based on your past position with DoITT. We do

         11  appreciate it and the Finance staff would be

         12  available to you, if you want to further explore

         13  some of these subjects that you brought up.

         14                 MR. LEVINE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We're now going

         16  to take testimony on the proposed Sutphin Boulevard

         17  BID, and I believe we have representatives of the

         18  Department of Business Services or Small Business

         19  Services.

         20                 MR. SCHWARTZ: Small Business

         21  Services.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The Department of

         23  Small Business Services.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         25  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning. My name is
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          2  Andrew Schwartz, First Deputy Commissioner for the

          3  Department of Small Business Services (SBS). SBS

          4  supports the City Council resolution setting the

          5  date, time, and place for the public hearing

          6  concerning the establishment of the Sutphin

          7  Boulevard Business Improvement District in the

          8  borough of Queens. The Sutphin Boulevard Steering

          9  Committee has successfully completed the outreach

         10  work consistent with program rules. In addition, SBS

         11  has reviewed the boundaries of the BID and found the

         12  boundaries to be accepted as proposed. SBS will

         13  arrange for the publication of the summary of the

         14  City Council resolution at least once in the City

         15  record. The Sutphin Boulevard BID Steering Committee

         16  will arrange the mailing of the summary of the

         17  resolution as required by law.

         18                 Lastly, SBS is submitting two revised

         19  pages of the Sutphin Boulevard District Plan in

         20  order to Class C property which are residential

         21  properties devoted in whole to residential uses

         22  located in the district. Thank you. If you have any

         23  questions, I'm here. George Glater (phonetic) our

         24  Assistant Commissioner for Neighborhood Development

         25  is with me today.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any members have

          3  any questions? We've been joined by the Honorable

          4  Robert Jackson, a member of this Committee, from

          5  Manhattan.

          6                 We're going to vote momentarily on

          7  this proposed item, as well as the Land Use referral

          8  in Council Member Reyna's district, as soon as

          9  Council rounds up a quorum.

         10                 In the meantime, Council Member

         11  Fidler will filibuster.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: No actually. I

         13  can do that, if you really like, but I wouldn't

         14  dare.

         15                 I understand the Sutphin BID is in

         16  Council Member's Gennaro's district primarily; is

         17  that correct?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Primarily.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Is he in favor

         20  of this bill?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: He is in favor of

         22  this.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Is Council

         24  woman Reyna in support of the other resolution that

         25  affects her district?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: She is, and I

          3  think she's here to testify, as well. Or just to

          4  make a statement.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes, she is.

          6  It's also partially 30 percent, 30 to 40 percent is

          7  in my district, and I'm highly in favor of BID.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: In fact, I was

         10  at the community board meeting where they talked

         11  about the BID, and the businesses there have been

         12  working on trying to put this BID together for about

         13  three years. They have been actively seeking the BID

         14  individually and they actually reached out to the

         15  Department of Finance to pull the BID together. So,

         16  they are highly motivated to have this BID. They

         17  think it would be an enhancement to Sutphin

         18  Boulevard area.

         19                 And just for your information, that

         20  Sutphin Boulevard area is where the terminus of the

         21  airtrain will be, adjacent to the Jamaica Long

         22  Island Railroad Station. So they feel they need to

         23  have that BID so that they can be competitive with

         24  all the improvements in that area.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member
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          2  Sears.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In line with

          4  that, I just want to say that when it comes to a

          5  vote, a great deal of work has been done on

          6  developing a business improvement district. There

          7  isn't any stone left unturned and the bids are the

          8  answer to so much of the cooperation between the

          9  City, communities and volunteers, actually. So, I

         10  really commend Council Member Gennaro and Council

         11  Member Comrie and with their communities to do this.

         12  Because it is just one big enhancement for the

         13  borough of Queens. And if there have been any

         14  comments that haven't been heard when we have voted

         15  on bids, it's because I believe they really have not

         16  known the full process that has taken place.

         17  Certainly, it's a very lengthy one and a complete

         18  one.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. I'm going

         20  to ask to couple both preconsidered resolutions and

         21  have one vote on both.

         22                 Call the roll, please.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Boyland.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

          4                 (No response.)

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:: By a vote of 12 in
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          2  the affirmative, and zero in the negative, no

          3  abstentions, both items are adopted. Council

          4  Members, please sign the Committee reports.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we're going

          6  to keep the roll open for those members that are

          7  floating about to sign the roll. Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Oddo.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 11:45 a.m.)
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